REPORT

Southwold Harbour Investment Plan

Assessment of Breakwater Culvert Options

Client: East Suffolk Council

Reference:PB9485-RHD-XX-XX-RP-X-0006Status:Draft/0001Date:February 2023





HASKONINGDHV UK LTD.

Westpoint Peterborough Business Park Lynch Wood Peterborough PE2 6FZ United Kingdom Water & Maritime

+44 1733 3344 55 **T**

info@uk.rhdhv.com E

royalhaskoningdhv.com W

Document title:	Southwold Harbour Investment Plan
Subtitle: Reference: Your reference Status: Date: Project name: Project number: Author(s):	Assessment of Breakwater Culvert Options PB9485-RHD-XX-XX-RP-X-0006 Click or tap here to enter text. 0001/Draft February 2023 Southwold Harbour Investment Plan PB9485 Amy Savage
Drafted by:	Amy Savage
Checked by:	Rachael Holsgrove
Date / initials:	09/02/2023
Reviewed by:	Keming Hu
Date / initials:	27/01/2023

Classification

Internal use only

Unless otherwise agreed with the Client, no part of this document may be reproduced or made public or used for any purpose other than that for which the document was produced. HaskoningDHV UK Ltd. accepts no responsibility or liability whatsoever for this document other than towards the Client.

Please note: this document contains personal data of employees of HaskoningDHV UK Ltd.. Before publication or any other way of disclosing, this report needs to be anonymized, unless anonymisation of this document is prohibited by legislation.

Royal HaskoningDHV

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	4
2	Approach	4
3	Review of Existing Information	5
3.1	Examples of similar structures	5
3.2	Wave penetration through the proposed culverts	5
3.3	Wave energy dissipation by proposed rock breakwater	5
4	Additional Tidal Modelling	8
4.1	Approach to additional modelling	8
4.2	Model results	9
5	Conclusions	16
6	Recommendations	17



1 Introduction

A key recommendation of the Southwold Harbour Investment Plan is to replace the South Pier with a rock armour breakwater.

The existing South Pier incorporates 'windows' in the sheet piles, which enable a flow of water into the entrance channel from the south. The resulting interaction with waves moving along the entrance channel, and with the tidal flow in or out of the channel, is reported by harbour users to make it easier to navigate through the channel. This is understood to be particularly important during swell wave conditions.

A key objective for the Investment Plan is to sustain navigation conditions in the harbour entrance. To achieve this, the current recommendation is for large box culverts to be incorporated into the proposed rock breakwater, which would enable flow through the structure in a similar way to the existing windows (see Figure 1-1).

This innovative solution is considered to be technically feasible and is expected to have the desired effect. However, we have not identified any examples of the use of box culverts within a breakwater for this

purpose. Therefore, additional tidal modelling is required to assess the performance of the proposed culverts, in terms of their influence on tidal currents within the harbour entrance channel, in comparison with the existing hydrodynamic conditions.

This Technical Note sets out the approach taken to assess this issue, the model results and conclusions, and the recommendations from this additional work.

Figure 1-1 – Proposed rock breakwater with box culverts



2 Approach

To review the performance of the proposed box culverts, we have undertaken the following activities:

- a. Review of past projects and relevant technical literature to identify whether there are any examples of this type of solution being used elsewhere.
- b. Review of the potential for wave penetration through the proposed culverts, and the potential impact on conditions in the entrance channel.
- c. Review of the potential benefit of the proposed rock breakwater for wave energy dissipation, based on previous wave modelling.
- d. Additional tidal modelling for the proposed rock breakwater with culverts (2 culvert arrangement options, 2 water level conditions).
- e. Comparison of the additional modelling results with the previous modelling, considering the baseline conditions and solid South Pier options.
- f. Presentation and discussion of the findings of the additional modelling at a stakeholder meeting.
- g. Preparation of a Technical Note to summarise the findings of the additional modelling and any stakeholder comments. The main project report will also be updated to include the findings of this additional work.



3 Review of Existing Information

3.1 Examples of similar structures

The scenario at Southwold was shared with various colleagues with experience in the design and construction of rock armour breakwaters internationally. It has not been possible to identify any locations from our collective experience where a similar solution has been used. However, the discussion with colleagues did provide some useful comments on the benefits and constraints of the proposed solution, which are included in the subsequent discussion in this Technical Note.

3.2 Wave penetration through the proposed culverts

Incorporating open box culverts through the proposed rock breakwater would enable both waves and tidal flows to move through the breakwater into the entrance channel, with the aim of replicating the 'windows' in the existing structure. However, the culverts would be quite narrow, at approximately 3m, which means that a relatively limited amount of wave energy would be able to penetrate. Wave energy would be dissipated as waves move through the culverts, but wave-generated currents could be created.

It is not possible to assess wave penetration through the proposed culverts using the existing wave model, as the culverts are too narrow compared to the model grid size. A 3-dimensional wave model would need to be used to represent the culverts as 'cuts' through the rock structure. This modelling could be undertaken as part of detailed design, if the proposal to incorporate culverts in the breakwater is taken forward. Such modelling could also be used to optimise the position and orientation of the culverts, considering the alignment of the breakwater and the prevailing wave direction. It would then be possible to either minimise or increase the amount of wave energy penetration and wave-generated currents, depending on the requirements for modifying conditions in the entrance channel.

3.3 Wave energy dissipation by proposed rock breakwater

Figure 3-1 and **Figure 3-2** summarise the wave modelling results for 1-year return period waves from the 120 degree and 180 degree sectors, for various options for the future of the South Pier. It should be noted that a 1-year return period event represents a reasonably severe storm, so vessels are unlikely to be navigating the entrance channel during these conditions. These figures show that replacing the South Pier with a rock armour breakwater would significantly improve wave conditions in the entrance channel, as the rock armour will dissipate wave energy and reduce wave reflection.

The model results for the existing structure show that, for 1-year return period waves from the 120 degree sector, very disturbed wave conditions with waves of up to 2.75m are experienced along the middle of the channel over its full length. Potentially higher waves can occur close to the North Pier due to wave reflection. For waves from the 180 degree sector, the much higher waves mean that the variation in wave conditions within the channel is less obvious.

The model results for a vertical-walled South Pier (without the windows) show the increased wave reflection that would occur from the inner face of the South Pier. The model results for the 120 wave direction sector are compared in **Figure 3-1** below, as the differences are more apparent than for waves from the 180 degree sector. This figure further demonstrates the benefit of the windows in the existing structure for navigation into and out of the channel. An area of lower wave heights (approx. 2.25m) is shown at the mouth of the channel for the vertical-walled South Pier, with wave heights then increasing to about 2.75m as you move into the channel. For the existing structure, wave conditions within the channel are more disturbed over the length of the channel, so there would be less of a noticeable transition from lower waves at the mouth to higher (reflected) waves within the channel.





Existing South Pier, represented in wave model as an open structure above the cut-off level of the piles (bed level of model raised to the top of the piles).



South Pier replaced with vertical-walled structure.



South Pier replaced with a rock armour breakwater.

South Pier replaced with a rock armour breakwater, plus rock groyne opposite the North Wall.

Figure 3-1: Comparison of wave conditions - options for replacement of South Pier, 1-year return period wave conditions from 120 degree sector





Existing South Pier, represented in wave model as an open structure above the cut-off level of the piles (bed level of model raised to the top of the piles).



South Pier replaced with vertical-walled structure.



South Pier replaced with a rock armour breakwater.



South Pier replaced with a rock armour breakwater, plus rock groyne opposite the North Wall.

Figure 3-2: Comparison of wave conditions - options for replacement of South Pier, 1-year return period wave conditions from 180 degree sector



With a rock armour breakwater, for waves from the 120 degree sector, wave heights in the entrance channel would reduce from about 2.5m at the mouth of the channel to less than 1.0m about halfway along the South Pier. For waves from the 180 degree sector the rock breakwater is even more effective in wave energy dissipation, reducing wave heights from about 3.75m at the mouth of the channel to less than 1.5m about halfway along the South Pier. This rapid change in wave conditions could be a constraint to navigation, as it could be difficult to move from the very disturbed wave conditions at the mouth of the channel into the calmer conditions within the channel, or vice versa when moving from the channel into the open sea. The change in wave conditions from the mouth to within the channel is expected to be less sudden for more typical day-to-day conditions.

The wave modelling results demonstrate that with a rock breakwater in place, the wave energy dissipation achieved due to the rock armour will significantly improve the conditions for vessels within the entrance channel. Therefore, it may not be necessary to further modify the conditions in the channel by introducing a cross-flow, such as is currently experienced from the windows in the South Pier, and which the proposed culverts aim to replicate.

There is a potential risk to navigation in relation to the relatively rapid transition from disturbed wave conditions outside the harbour entrance to much calmer conditions within the channel. The available wave modelling results are for a 1-year return period storm event, which is more severe than the typical conditions for navigation. Additional modelling would be required to better understand this issue for less severe wave conditions, as well as further discussion with harbour users.

If necessary, there are modifications that could be made to the design of the breakwater to reduce the rate of change in the wave height or to mitigate the impact on vessels. This might include reducing the crest level of the head of the breakwater so that some (limited) wave overtopping can occur, changing the shape of the harbour entrance, or altering the angle of approach by vessels. The further development of the design for the proposed rock breakwater should therefore consider this issue in some detail, including consultation with harbour users.

4 Additional Tidal Modelling

4.1 Approach to additional modelling

Additional tidal modelling has been undertaken to assess the impact of the proposed box culverts on tidal flows within the harbour entrance channel, by comparison with the model results for the existing situation (windows through the South Pier), and for a breakwater without windows or culverts.

The tidal model was revised to include a rock breakwater in place of the South Pier. Box culverts were incorporated within the breakwater, assumed to be 3m wide and 2m high and positioned at mid-tide, i.e. with the invert level set at 0.5m ODN. The culverts were aligned to 210 degrees, to limit wave penetration. Two options were modelled, with either 3 or 5 box culverts. The figures showing the model results show the location of the culverts.

Table 4-1 sets out the scenarios that have been considered for this assessment, including the conditions that were assessed in earlier phases of this project, as well as the new model runs. The previous model runs for a solid vertical-walled pier show what the tidal flows would be for a rock breakwater without culverts, as the different reflection characteristics of these two options are not relevant for the tidal model.



Option		Tide level (m ODN)			
Harbour entrance	Estuary defences	1.49 (2020)	2.04 (RCP2.5, 2020)		
Present-day South Pier	Present-day defences (E0)	\checkmark	✓		
Solid South Pier (F1) / Rock Breakwater	Present-day defences (E0)	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Rock breakwater with 3 box culverts	Present-day defences (E0)	\checkmark	✓		
Rock breakwater with 5 box culverts	Present-day defences (E0)	\checkmark	\checkmark		

Table 4.1: Scenarios assessed using the tidal model

4.2 Model results

The tidal model results for the present-day harbour structures (Figure 4-1) show that the flow through the 'windows' in the South Pier does influence the tidal flows in the harbour entrance channel to some extent, with high flows shown adjacent to the inner face of the South Pier, for both the flood and ebb tide.

Figure 4-1 can be compared against the peak flow velocity with a solid, vertical-walled pier structure without the windows (Figure 4-3), which does not show the same high flows along the pier. A figure showing the difference between these two model runs is also provided (Figure 4-4), which shows that with a solid, vertical walled South Pier without windows the tidal flows along the centre of the channel would be slightly less (up to 0.4m/s) than they are at present. Figure 4-2 to Figure 4-4 show maximum flow velocity over the full tidal cycle, which typically occurs on the ebb tide.

The model results for the existing harbour entrance structures (Figure 4-1) show that the influence of the tidal flow through the windows in the South Pier does not extend very far into the entrance channel, as the high flow rates are concentrated close to the pier. In the centre of the entrance channel, it appears that tidal flows are dominated by the strong flood and ebb flows into and out of the Blyth estuary.

The tidal model results for the proposed rock breakwater with 3 culverts show high current speeds adjacent to the breakwater on the ebb tide (Figure 4-5). For this rock breakwater option, maximum current speeds in the centre of the channel are approximately 1.4m/s for the February 2020 tidal conditions, which is also the maximum current speed with the present-day harbour entrance structures, although the highest current speeds occur over a greater length of the channel in that scenario. Comparing the results for this option against the present-day conditions (Figure 4-6) shows the flow through the culverts on the flood tide, although not on the ebb tide, and that current speeds immediately adjacent to the South Pier could be up to 1.0m/s higher on the ebb tide compared to the present-day conditions. However, the flow through the culverts does not have a strong influence on flow velocities in the centre of the entrance channel.

The tidal model was also run with a higher water level condition (2.04mODN tide level) for this rock breakwater option (Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-10), to assess the impact of the proposed culverts with higher flow velocities. Areas of high flow velocity are again visible adjacent to the breakwater, but do not extend into the centre of the channel. As for the lower water level, peak flow velocities immediately adjacent to the South Pier could be up to 1.2m/s higher with the rock breakwater and culverts, but in the centre of the channel the peak flow velocities would be comparable to present-day conditions (+/- 0.2m/s) for the same tide level.

The peak flow velocities for a rock breakwater with 5 culverts are shown in Figure 4-7. When more culverts are incorporated into the breakwater structure, the flow through the culverts means that the flows in the entrance channel would be slightly is closer to the present-day situation. This is more noticeable for lower water levels. The difference plots for both the 1.49mODN and 2.40mODN tide levels (Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-12) show that current speeds in the entrance channel would be up to 0.2m/s higher for this breakwater option than with the present-day South Pier.





Figure 4-1: Spatial variation of peak flow velocity for present-day South Pier (with windows), Feb 2020 conditions





Figure 4-2: Maximum flow velocity in harbour entrance for vertical-walled South Pier (no windows), Feb 2020 conditions







Figure 4-4: Difference in maximum flow velocity for solid South Pier (no windows) compared to present-day structure (with windows), Feb 2020 conditions





Figure 4-5: Spatial variation of peak flow velocity for rock breakwater (3 culverts), Feb 2020 conditions



Figure 4-6: Difference in peak flow velocity for rock breakwater (3 culverts) compared to present-day structure, Feb 2020 conditions





Figure 4-7: Spatial variation of peak flow velocity for rock breakwater (5 culverts), Feb 2020 conditions



Figure 4-8: Difference in peak flow velocity for rock breakwater (5 culverts) compared to present-day structure, Feb 2020 conditions





Figure 4-9: Maximum flow velocity in harbour entrance for rock breakwater (3 culverts), 2.04m tide level



Figure 4-10: Difference in maximum flow velocity for rock breakwater (3 culverts) compared to present-day structure, 2.04m tide level





Figure 4-11: Maximum flow velocity in harbour entrance for rock breakwater (5 culverts), 2.04m tide level



Figure 4-12: Difference in maximum flow velocity for rock breakwater (5 culverts) compared to present-day structure, 2.04m tide level



5 Conclusions

A series of box culverts are proposed to form part of the rock armour breakwater which is currently recommended to replace the South Pier at Southwold. The aim for these culverts is to replicate the 'windows' in the existing South Pier, which enable waves and tidal flows to penetrate into the harbour entrance channel. This additional assessment as part of the development of the Southwold Harbour investment Plan has assessed the likely hydraulic performance of the proposed box culverts, considering:

- Wave penetration through the box culverts;
- Wave energy dissipation in the harbour entrance channel due to the proposed rock armour breakwater; and
- Tidal flow through the box culverts.

Whilst the proposed box culverts would dissipate wave energy, wav-generated currents could occur, with waves and tidal flows moving through the culverts resulting in intermittent jets of water into the channel. It is not possible to quantify this wave penetration using the existing wave model, although this could be done as part of detailed design using a 3-dimensional wave model, which could also be used to optimise the position and orientation of the culverts.

The tidal model results show that both the existing 'windows' in the South Pier and the proposed culverts create cross-flows into the entrance channel. Higher current speeds are shown in the model results close to the South Pier structure, but these flows appear to have only a limited influence on the overall flow conditions compared to the diurnal tidal flows in and out of the estuary. The cross-flows are slightly more apparent over the full channel width for lower tidal levels.

The wave modelling results show that replacing the South Pier with a rock armour breakwater would significantly improve the wave conditions within the entrance channel, as the rock armour will dissipate wave energy and reduce wave reflection. With a rock armour breakwater, wave heights in the entrance channel are shown to reduce quite rapidly from disturbed conditions at the mouth to relatively calm conditions (>60% reduction in wave height) from about halfway along the South Pier, for 1-year return period wave conditions. The reduction in wave reflection achieved with a rock armour breakwater means that a cross-flow would no longer be necessary in terms of reducing wave reflection.

Comparing the wave conditions experienced with the existing South Pier structure to those that would occur with a vertical-walled structure without any windows demonstrates the benefits of the windows for limiting wave reflection and the potential build-up of swell waves running directly along the vertical wall. The relatively disturbed conditions that currently occur in harbour entrance channel are understood to benefit navigation into and out of the channel, because there is a more gradual change in wave conditions from disturbed through the channel to calmer at the North Wall.

Based on the wave modelling results that are available for review as part of this assessment, there may be a risk to navigation due to the rapid reduction in wave heights from the mouth of the harbour entrance channel into the channel itself. It could be difficult to move from the disturbed wave conditions at the entrance into the calmer conditions within the channel, or vice versa when moving from the channel into the open sea. This risk may not be so great for less severe wave conditions when vessels are more likely to be navigating the harbour entrance. This issue would need to be addressed in the design of the breakwater, irrespective of whether culverts are to be incorporated in the breakwater.

Considering the wave and tidal modelling results together in the context of the proposed rock armour breakwater and associated culverts, the overall conclusion is that the culverts would be of limited benefit to improving navigation conditions in the channel. Flow through the culverts has limited influence on the overall tidal flows in the channel, and the wave energy dissipation achieved by the rock breakwater reduces the impact of reflected waves. There is also the risk that tidal flow or wave penetration through the culverts could be experienced by vessels as a strong jet of water.



6 Recommendations

Based on the conclusions of this assessment, a rock armour breakwater continues to be the preferred option to replace the South Pier. However, we now recommend that the breakwater is designed without the inclusion of box culverts. This recommendation is subject to discussion of the conclusions and recommendations of this report with harbour users in February 2023.

The design of the mouth of the harbour entrance channel should optimise conditions for navigation into and out of the channel. Additional wave modelling should be undertaken for less extreme wave conditions, to fully understand any risks to navigation from the transition from disturbed conditions at the harbour entrance to calmer conditions within the channel. Any residual risk should be addressed in the design, informed by consultation with harbour users.



Royal HaskoningDHV is an independent, international engineering and project management consultancy with over 140 years of experience. Our professionals deliver services in the fields of aviation, buildings, energy, industry, infrastructure, maritime, mining, transport, urban and rural development and water.

Backed by expertise and experience of 6,000 colleagues across the world, we work for public and private clients in over 140 countries. We understand the local context and deliver appropriate local solutions.

We focus on delivering added value for our clients while at the same time addressing the challenges that societies are facing. These include the growing world population and the consequences for towns and cities; the demand for clean drinking water, water security and water safety; pressures on traffic and transport; resource availability and demand for energy and waste issues facing industry.

We aim to minimise our impact on the environment by leading by example in our projects, our own business operations and by the role we see in "giving back" to society. By showing leadership in sustainable development and innovation, together with our clients, we are working to become part of the solution to a more sustainable society now and into the future.

Our head office is in the Netherlands, other principal offices are in the United Kingdom, South Africa and Indonesia. We also have established offices in Thailand, India and the Americas; and we have a long standing presence in Africa and the Middle East.



royalhaskoningdhv.com

